#### IN THE

### Supreme Court of the United States

SHAFIQ RASUL ET AL.,

Petitioners,

V.

GEORGE W. BUSH ET AL.,

Respondent.

FAWZI KHALID ABDULLAH FAHAD AL ODAH ET AL., *Petitioners*,

V.

UNITED STATES ET AL.,

Respondents.

On Petitions for Writ of Certiorari to the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit

### BRIEF FOR THE COMMONWEALTH LAWYERS ASSOCIATION AS AMICUS CURIAE IN SUPPORT OF THE PETITIONS

SIR SYDNEY KENTRIDGE, Q.C.

Brick Court Chambers

7-8 Essex Street

STEPHEN J. POLLAK\*

JOHN TOWNSEND RICH

SHEA & GARDNER

London WC2R 3LD 1800 Massachusetts Ave., N.W. 44 207 379 3550 Washington, D.C. 20036

(202) 828-2000

COLIN NICHOLLS, Q.C. TIMOTHY OTTY, BARRISTER

 3 Raymond Buildings
 20 Essex Street

 London WC1R 5BH
 London WC2R 3AL

 44 207 400 6400
 44 207 842 1200

Attorneys for the Commonwealth Lawyers Association

October 3, 2003 \*Counsel of Record

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES	ii
INTEREST OF THE AMICUS CURIAE	1
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT	2
ARGUMENT	3
I. The origins and history of the writ of habeas corpus illustrate the importance of the writ and the breadth of protection it affords.	. 3
II. As a matter of English law the writ of habeas corpus will not be refused to any person within the jurisdiction of the Crown solely on the ground that he or she is an alien	. 7
III. The writ of habeas corpus is a flexible remedy adaptable to changing circumstances.	8
IV. As a matter of English law jurisdiction for the purposes of the writ of habeas corpus is established when the detained person is placed under the control of the Crown or enters territory under the Crown's control whether or not the Crown claims sovereignty over that territory.	. 8
CONCLUSION2	20

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

### CASES: Ex parte Anderson, 3 El. & El. 487, 121 Eng. Rep. Ex parte Mwenya, [1960] 1 Q.B. 241 Fay v. Noia, 372 U.S. 391 (1963).....2 *In re Ning Yi-Ching*, 56 T.L.R. 3 (K.B. 1939)......15 Khera v. Sec'y of State for the Home Dep't and Khawaja v. Sec'y of State for the Home Dep't, Rasul v. Bush, 215 F. Supp. 2d 55 (D.D.C. 2002) .....18, 20 Regina (Bancoult) v. Sec'y of State for Foreign and Commonwealth Affairs, [2001] Q.B. 1067 Rex v. Cowle, 2 Burr. 834, 97 Eng. Rep. 587 (K.B. 1759) ......9 Regina v. Sec'y of State for the Home Dep't, ex parte Muboyayi, [1992] Q.B. 244 (C.A.) ......8 Sec'y of State for Home Affairs v. O'Brien, [1923] A.C. 603 (appeal taken from Eng.) ......6 The King v. Sec'y of State for Home Affairs, ex parte O'Brien, [1923] 2 K.B. 361 (C.A.) ......14–15 The King v. The Earl of Crewe, ex parte Sekgome,

The Queen (on the application of Abbasi) v. Sec'y of State for Foreign and Commonwealth Affairs, [2002] EWCA Civ. 1598, [2002] All E.R. (D.) 70 (Nov.)
STATUTES:
An Act for the more effectually detaining in Custody <i>Napoleon Buonaparté</i> , 56 Geo. 3, c. 22 (1816)5
Habeas Corpus Act, 1640, 16 Car. 1, c. 10
Habeas Corpus Act, 1679, 31 Car. 2, c. 25
Habeas Corpus Act, 1816, 56 Geo. 3, c. 1005
Habeas Corpus Act, 1862, 25 & 26 Vict. c. 205, 11
Magna Carta, 1 Stat. at Large (Runnington rev. to Ruffhead ed., London, Charles Eyre et al. 1786)3-4
TREATY:
Geneva Convention (III) Relative to the Treatment of Prisoners of War, Aug. 12, 1949, 6 U.S.T. 3316, 75 U.N.T.S. 135
TREATISES:
Blackstone, William, 3 Commentaries on the Laws of England6
McNair, Arnold Duncan (Lord McNair), 1 International Law Opinions (1956)5
Pollock, Frederick, & Frederic W. Maitland, 1 The History of English Law (2d ed. 1923)4
Sharpe, R.J. (Robert J.), The Law of Habeas Corpus (2d ed. 1989)4

### INTEREST OF THE AMICUS CURIAE<sup>1</sup>

The *amicus*, the Commonwealth Lawyers Association ("the CLA") is a body dedicated to the rule of law throughout the Commonwealth.<sup>2</sup> All Law Societies and Bar Associations of the fifty-four countries comprising the Commonwealth are institutional members of the CLA.

Three signatories to this brief are practicing members of the English Bar. Colin Nicholls, Q.C., is the President of the CLA, and he has signed the brief with the full authority of the Council of the CLA.

The Petitioners who are seeking to appeal the judgment of the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia include two citizens of the United Kingdom and two citizens of Australia, member states of the Commonwealth.<sup>3</sup> Other Petitioners are nationals of Kuwait, a state which like the United Kingdom and Australia is friendly to the United States.<sup>4</sup>

This brief is submitted in support of the Petitioners, but the CLA wishes to make it clear at the outset that it does not presume to examine or comment on the judgment of the Court of Appeals in this case or the judgment of this Court in *Johnson* v. *Eisentrager*, 339 U.S. 763 (1950). The main purpose of this brief is to explain the basis on which the courts of the United Kingdom exercise jurisdiction in habeas corpus. We hope this may assist this Court for the following reasons:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>No counsel for any party authored this brief either in whole or in part, and no persons other than the *amicus curiae* and its legal counsel made any monetary contribution to its preparation or submission. The parties' written consents to the filing of this brief have been filed with the Clerk.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The Commonwealth is a voluntary association of fifty-four independent sovereign states. Its 1.7 billion people account for 30 per cent of the world's population.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Pet. in No. 03-334 at 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Pet. in No. 03-343 at 1.

- a) the writ of habeas corpus has its origin in England;
- b) in *Johnson* v. *Eisentrager* the Supreme Court referred to the English origins of habeas corpus and the harmony between the relevant laws of the two jurisdictions;<sup>5</sup>
- c) because of Britain's history as an imperial power, issues of territorial jurisdiction in habeas corpus have not infrequently arisen in the High Court in England in relation to territories outside the United Kingdom, including territories over which the United Kingdom did not assert sovereignty but, over which, through its own executive officers, it exercised power and control.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

In the English courts neither the nationality of the detained person, nor the existence of sovereignty in the detaining state over the territory in which the person is detained, will determine the availability of the writ of habeas corpus. The determining factors are, rather, whether the respondent to the writ possesses the actual power of detention or release, whether that respondent is subject to the jurisdiction of the court and (in the case of distant territories) whether there is a local court with power to grant the remedy.

Accordingly, subject to the assumptions that—

a) the Petitioners are not enemy aliens;<sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>339 U.S. at 779. See also *Fay* v. *Noia*, 372 U.S. 391, 399–400 (1963), where the Court, per Brennan J., spoke of the "extraordinary prestige of the Great Writ" in Anglo-American jurisprudence and also its "Anglo-American" development and also stated (at 401): "It is no accident that habeas corpus has time and again played a central role in national crises, wherein the claims of order and of liberty clash most acutely, not only in England in the seventeenth century, but also in America from our very beginnings, and today."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>I.e., citizens of a state at war with the United States. See *Johnson* v. *Eisentrager*, 339 U.S. at 769 n.2.

- b) they are not admitted or clearly shown to be prisoners of war in terms of the Geneva Convention (III) Relative to the Treatment of Prisoners of War;<sup>7</sup>
- c) there is no court in Guantanamo Bay with power to grant and enforce the writ of habeas corpus;

if it were the United Kingdom and not the United States which controlled the Guantanamo Bay Naval Base and held the Petitioners in detention on the same basis and with the same powers as does the United States, English courts having jurisdiction over the Respondents would assume jurisdiction to issue writs of *habeas corpus*, whatever the nationality of the Petitioners. We believe that the same position would also apply before Commonwealth courts were any other Commonwealth state to be in control of the Guantanamo Bay Naval Base.

We emphasise that this is not to say that an English or Commonwealth court would necessarily set the Petitioners at liberty. But it would, on the return to the writ, examine their status and the circumstances of their detention, and determine whether their detention was justified.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The origins and history of the writ of habeas corpus illustrate the importance of the writ and the breadth of protection it affords.

The origins of the writ of habeas corpus in England and the Commonwealth may be found in *Magna Carta*. Article 1 of *Magna Carta* states that all the freedoms set out therein were "given to all the free-men of our realm, for us and our Heirs for ever," and Article 29 provides that "no Freeman shall be taken, or imprisoned, or be dispossessed of his Freehold, or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>This convention provides its own remedies for persons held as prisoners of war, but who dispute that classification. Geneva Convention (III) Relative to the Treatment of Prisoners of War, Aug. 12, 1949, Art. 5, 6 U.S.T. 3316, 75 U.N.T.S. 135 (Pet. in No. 03-334 at 69a, 70a).

Liberties, or free Customs, or be outlawed or exiled, \* \* \*but by lawful Judgment of his Peers, or by the Law of the Land." A Divisional Court of the Queen's Bench has recently endorsed the following statement as accurately reflecting its present day significance in English law:

"[Magna Carta] becomes and rightly becomes a sacred text, the nearest approach to an irrepealable 'fundamental statute' that England has ever had. \* \* \* For in brief it means this, that the king is and shall be below the law "9

It appears that it was in the sixteenth century that the writ of habeas corpus first began to be used as a means of testing the validity of executive committals.<sup>10</sup>

In 1640 the English Parliament made its first express attempt to curtail the power of executive detention. Section VIII of the Habeas Corpus Act of 1640, 16 Car. 1, c. 10, provided that "any Person" imprisoned by order of the King or Council should have habeas corpus and be brought before the court without delay with the cause of imprisonment shown. The Act was passed against the background of the first case of major constitutional importance to address the question of habeas corpus, *Darnel's Case*, 3 How. St. Tr. 1 (K.B. 1627).<sup>11</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Magna Carta arts. 1 & 29, 1 Stat. at Large (Runnington rev. to Ruffhead ed., London, Charles Eyre *et al.* 1786).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>1 Frederick Pollock & Frederic W. Maitland, The History of English Law 173 (2d ed. 1923), cited and quoted with approval by Lord Justice Laws in *Regina (Bancoult)* v. *Sec'y of State for Foreign and Commonwealth Affairs*, [2001] Q.B. 1067, 1095 (Q.B.D. Admin. Ct.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>R.J. Sharpe says in the leading textbook on the subject, The Law of Habeas Corpus 7 (2d ed. 1989): "By the time of Elizabeth [I], it was becoming clear that the claim to a power to commit for reasons of state could be tested on habeas corpus. There are cases as early as 1567 in which habeas corpus was used by persons detained by order of the Privy Council to obtain their release on bail."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>In *Darnel's Case*, the King, Charles I, had imprisoned five Knights as a result of their refusal to contribute to the repayment of a forced loan he

Although now repealed, the Act's wording is notable in that it attributes no significance to either the location of the detained person or his nationality. The right arose purely by virtue of the detention by the King or Council.

In 1679 a second Habeas Corpus Act, 31 Car. 2, c. 2, made it clear that the territorial scope of the protection afforded by habeas corpus—the guarantee against arbitrary detention—was intended to be broad. The preamble described the Act as "An Act for the better securing the Liberty of the Subject, and for Prevention of Imprisonment beyond the Seas," and Section XII made it an offence to remove detained persons to places where the writ could not be served.

The Habeas Corpus Act of 1816, 56 Geo. 3, c. 100, specified that non-obedience to the writ of habeas corpus was a contempt of court and empowered the court to inquire into the truth of facts averred in the return to the writ and, in cases of doubt as to their accuracy, to grant the detained person bail.<sup>12</sup>

Over the centuries English judges and lawyers have emphasized the importance of the writ of habeas corpus and its

had taken out. The Knights sought their freedom by issue of writs of habeas corpus and, in response, the King simply asserted (at 33) that they had been detained "per speciale mandatum domini regis." The issue in the case was whether the Court was required to assume that there was substantive legal justification for the imprisonment or whether the failure to disclose specific grounds entitled the prisoners to be bailed pending trial. The Court ruled in favour of the King and refused to bail the Knights. The Habeas Corpus Act of 1640 in effect reversed that decision.

<sup>12</sup>Another Act passed in 1816 also owed its origins to the law of habeas corpus. It was entitled "An Act for the more effectually detaining in Custody *Napoleon Buonaparté*," 56 Geo. 3, c. 22 (1816) (Eng.), and was passed specifically to render lawful the continued detention of Bonaparte notwithstanding the end of the Napoleonic wars by deeming him to be a "Prisoner of War" and so to have no right to habeas corpus. See 1 Arnold Duncan, Lord McNair, International Law Opinions 104–07 (1956), explaining the origins of the Act and how Admiral Lord Keith (the commander in chief of the English Channel fleet) had been "chased all day by a lawyer with a *Habeas Corpus*!" The 1862 Habeas Corpus Act is also of significance and is referred to in more detail below.

fundamental purpose—namely to provide a speedy and effective means to test the lawfulness of any detention and thus to protect the liberty of the individual. The jurisdiction of the High Court in England to grant the writ was recognized as extending to any part of the King's dominions. Blackstone described the writ thus:

"[T]he great and efficacious writ in all manner of illegal confinement, is that of *habeas corpus ad subjiciendum*; \*\*\*. This is a high prerogative writ, \*\*\* running into all parts of the king's dominions: for the king is at all times intitled to have an account, why the liberty of any of his subjects is restrained, wherever that restraint may be inflicted."<sup>13</sup>

The breadth of the remedy was re-affirmed in the House of Lords by the Earl of Birkenhead in *Sec'y of State for Home Affairs* v. *O'Brien*, [1923] A.C. 603 (appeal taken from Eng.), when he said the following (at 609):

"We are dealing with a writ antecedent to statute, and throwing its root deep into the genius of our common law. The writ with which we are concerned to-day was more fully known as habeas corpus ad subjiciendum.

\* \* \* It is perhaps the most important writ known to the constitutional law of England, affording as it does a swift and imperative remedy in all cases of illegal restraint or confinement. It is of immemorial antiquity, an instance of its use occurring in the thirty-third year of Edward I. It has through the ages been jealously maintained by Courts of Law as a check upon the illegal usurpation of power by the Executive at the cost of the liege."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>3 William Blackstone, Commentaries \*131.

# II. As a matter of English law the writ of habeas corpus will not be refused to any person within the jurisdiction of the Crown solely on the ground that he or she is an alien.

Innumerable judicial statements to the same effect as that made by the Earl of Birkenhead could be cited. In some of them the right to liberty which is protected by the writ has been described as a right of "the subject," "the liege," or "the citizen." It has, however, long been accepted that the remedy is equally available to aliens. In the case of *Khera* v. *Sec'y* of *State for the Home Dep't* and *Khawaja* v. *Sec'y of State for the Home Dep't*, [1984] A.C. 74 (appeal taken from Eng.), the applicant for habeas corpus was a Pakistan national held in the United Kingdom pending his removal pursuant to an order made by an immigration officer. In the course of his judgment (with which, on this point, none of the other members of the House of Lords disagreed) Lord Scarman stated that the question of a detained person's nationality was irrelevant to his right to the writ of habeas corpus. He said (at 111–12):

"Habeas corpus protection is often expressed as limited to 'British subjects.' Is it really limited to British nationals? Suffice it to say that the case law has given an emphatic 'no' to the question. Every person within the jurisdiction enjoys the equal protection of our laws. There is no distinction between British nationals and others. He who is subject to English law is entitled to its protection. This principle has been in the law at least since Lord Mansfield freed 'the black' in *Sommersett's Case* (1772) 20 St. Tr. 1. There is nothing here to encourage in the case of aliens or non-patrials the implication of words excluding the judicial review our law normally accords to those whose liberty is infringed."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>Other than enemy aliens (as defined above, see *supra* note 6) and prisoners of war to whom different considerations have been held to apply.

Other cases illustrating the irrelevance of nationality in habeas corpus are referred to below. The signatories to this brief know of no English or Commonwealth case where the writ has been refused to any person within the jurisdiction of the Crown solely on the ground that he or she is an alien.

### III. The writ of habeas corpus is a flexible remedy adaptable to changing circumstances.

Consistent with its underlying purpose the writ of habeas corpus has always been treated as a flexible remedy. In the context of the Court's powers to issue the writ to prevent removal of a foreign immigrant seeking to challenge deportation, Lord Justice Taylor (later the Lord Chief Justice of England and Wales) observed in *Regina* v. *Sec'y of State for the Home Dep't, ex parte Muboyayi*, [1992] Q.B. 244, 269 (C.A.):

"The court must inherently have the power to prevent its decision from being pre-empted by administrative action. The great writ of habeas corpus has over the centuries been a flexible remedy adaptable to changing circumstances."

IV. As a matter of English law jurisdiction for the purposes of the writ of habeas corpus is established when the detained person is placed under the control of the Crown or enters territory under the Crown's control whether or not the Crown claims sovereignty over that territory.

In the passage from the *Khawaja* decision quoted above Lord Scarman said that the writ was available to "[e]very person within the jurisdiction." Although the *Khawaja* case related to an individual within the United Kingdom, the central question, as Lord Scarman indicated, was whether the individual seeking to invoke the remedy of habeas corpus could be said to be "within the jurisdiction" of the United Kingdom. As a matter of English law "jurisdiction" in this context is es-

tablished when the individual is placed under the control of the Crown or enters territory under the Crown's control. What is determinative in habeas corpus jurisdiction is whether the officers of state to whom the writ is directed have effective control over the detained person, and whether those officers are themselves subject to the jurisdiction of the court. If the United Kingdom Parliament has assumed power to make laws applicable to a particular territory and if the United Kingdom executive has applied and enforced United Kingdom law there, then there is no doubt that that territory would be regarded as being within United Kingdom jurisdiction. See, e.g., The King v. The Earl of Crewe, ex parte Sekgome, [1910] 2 K.B. 576, 606 (C.A.), per Vaughan Williams, L.J., discussed *infra*.

That the English courts in exercising this jurisdiction have looked to actual control over territory and not to concepts of legal sovereignty is evidenced by a line of cases extending over two and a half centuries. We refer to the principal cases below.

### Rex v. Cowle, 2 Burr. 834, 97 Eng. Rep. 587 (K.B. 1759):

The issue in this case was whether the writ of habeas corpus could issue to Berwick which had been acquired by conquest from Scotland, but not formally incorporated within England, and which remained governed by its own charter. Lord Mansfield, Chief Justice, giving the judgment of the Court did not find it necessary to determine the precise legal status of Berwick. He held that:

"Writs \*\*\* such as \*\*\* habeas corpus \*\*\* are restrained by no clause in the constitution given to Berwick: upon a proper case, they may issue to every dominion of the Crown of England. [¶] There is no doubt as to the power of this Court; where the place is under the subjection of the Crown of England\*\*\*." 2 Burr. at 855–56.

"Dominion" in 1759 had no technical meaning. Nor was "subjection" in this context a technical term. It implied no more than actual control and power. In *Ex parte Mwenya*, [1960] 1 Q.B. 241, 310 (C.A.), (to which we shall return in more detail below), Lord Justice Sellers said of this statement of Lord Mansfield:

"Lord Mansfield gave the writ the greatest breadth of application which in the then circumstances could well be conceived. \* \* \* 'Subjection' is fully appropriate to the powers exercised or exercisable by this country irrespective of territorial sovereignty or dominion, and it embraces in outlook the power of the Crown in the place concerned."

### Ex parte Anderson, 3 El. & El. 487, 121 Eng. Rep. 525, 30 L.J.Q.B. 129 (Q.B. 1861):

In this case the English High Court issued a writ to the sheriff of the County of York in Canada, and to the keeper of the gaol of Toronto in that county, to bring up the body of an American slave, John Anderson. In granting the writ Chief Justice Cockburn acknowledged that the colony had both legislative and judicial independence, but continued as follows:

"Nevertheless, it is to be observed that, in establishing a local judicature in Canada, our Legislature has not gone so far as expressly to abrogate the right of the superior Courts at Westminster to issue the writ of habeas corpus to that province \*\*\*. [W]rits of habeas corpus have been and may be issued into all parts of the dominions of the Crown of England, wherever a subject of the Crown is illegally imprisoned or kept in custody. \*\*\* [A]nd as the writ has issued even into dominions of the Crown in which there is an independent local judicature; we think that nothing short of legislative enactment would justify us in refusing to exercise the jurisdiction, when called

upon to do so for the protection of the personal liberty of the subject." 3 El. & El. at 527–28.

This decision illustrated the broad territorial scope of the writ of habeas corpus. Moreover, as Anderson was an American slave, it is evident that the use of the term "subject" was not equated with the status of citizenship.

The Habeas Corpus Act of 1862 was passed in response to the controversy created by the decision in *Ex parte Anderson*. It was described by its preamble as "An Act respecting the Issue of Writs of Habeas Corpus out of *England* into Her Majesty's Possessions Abroad." Section 1 provided that:

"No Writ of Habeas Corpus shall issue out of *England*, by Authority of any Judge or Court of Justice therein, into any Colony or Foreign Dominion of the Crown where Her Majesty has a lawfully established Court or Courts of Justice having Authority to grant and issue the said Writ, and to ensure the due Execution thereof throughout such Colony or Dominion."

The Act makes it clear that if the local courts in a British colony or "Foreign Dominion" could not effectively issue and enforce the writ, the High Court in England retained the power to do so, emphasising the Crown's broad jurisdiction over habeas corpus and recognizing the fundamental need for at least one court to exist that can "ensure the due Execution" of the writ in any place under British control.

### The King v. The Earl of Crewe, ex parte Sekgome, [1910] 2 K.B. 576 (C.A.):

This case related to the English Court's jurisdiction to issue a writ of habeas corpus to the Protectorate of Bechuanaland. The Protectorate was not part of the Crown's dominions<sup>15</sup> nor

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>See [1910] 2 K.B. at 591–92, per Vaughan Williams, L.J., and at 622–23, per Kennedy, L.J. The relevance of this term arises from the Habeas Corpus Act, 1862, to which we have referred above.

did the British Government assert sovereignty over it. It did, however, control and administer the territory. On the evidence of the Secretary of State for the Colonies it was merely a "foreign country within which [the Crown] had power and jurisdiction by treaty, grant, usage, sufferance, or other lawful means \* \* \* [and] that it had never been acquired by settlement, or ceded to, or conquered, or annexed by His Majesty or any of his Royal predecessors \*\*\*." The writ was sought on behalf of an individual who claimed to be the chief of a native tribe but nevertheless a British subject. Counsel for the Respondent—the Secretary of State for the Colonies conceded that it was immaterial whether or not the applicant was a British subject.<sup>17</sup> The Court nevertheless considered that concession to have been well-founded and to accurately represent the law. 18 Moreover, the majority (Lord Justice Vaughan Williams and Lord Justice Farwell) held that the writ ran to the Protectorate, notwithstanding that it was not a British colony or dominion.<sup>19</sup>

Lord Justice Vaughan Williams indicated that it was the fact of presence in territory under the control of the State and the assertion of power over the individual by the State which triggered the protection of the writ and neither sovereignty nor nationality-based ties to that State. He said (at 592) that "the writ may be addressed to any person who has such control over the imprisonment that he could order the release of the prisoner." Later he added (at 606):

"In the present case the King has every means of enforcing obedience. The Crown \* \* \* has established laws which the dwellers in the Protectorate, whether natives or mere residents, must obey, and from which they surely

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>See [1910] 2 K.B. at 577.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>See *id*. at 580.

 $<sup>^{18}\</sup>mathrm{See}, \textit{e.g.}, \textit{id.}$  at 606, per Vaughan Williams, L.J., and at 620, per Kennedy, L.J.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>Kennedy, L.J., dissented on this point.

must be entitled to receive protection when injured. Is the mere fact of absence of annexation and theoretical possession to deprive the Crown and those who are under the law from the benefits and power of the writ of habeas?"

Lord Justice Farwell also indicated (at 618) that he considered the crucial issue to be control on the part of the proposed Respondent rather than the precise legal status of the territory where the applicant was detained.

Lord Justice Kennedy (who in fact rejected the availability of the writ on different grounds<sup>20</sup>) stated, in terms, that he considered that the question as to whether or not the applicant was a British subject was an irrelevance, and that the key issue was whether or not he was detained under British authority. He said:

"In my opinion the mere fact that a person in detention ought to be considered as not being in the strict sense of the term a British subject could not in itself be treated as impairing the jurisdiction of the High Court of Justice to direct the issue of the writ, if it were shewn that his custodian was detaining him within a British dominion and claiming so to detain him in the exercise of powers conferred upon him by British jurisdiction. The remedy obtainable by the writ of habeas corpus is not confined to British subjects. \* \* \* [If] Gaberones, where Sekgome is detained, can rightly be held to be within the foreign dominions of the Crown, I do not think that the jurisdiction of the High Court of Justice to issue the writ of habeas corpus could be affected in any way by the fact that Sekgome is not a British subject." *Id.* at 620–21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>In Lord Justice Kennedy's view, the writ could not be issued beyond territories which were formally "dominions" of the Crown but in this respect he was alone—Lord Justice Vaughan Williams and Lord Justice Farwell stating that they preferred the opposite conclusion. See *id.* at 624; cf. *id.* at 592, 605–06, per Vaughan Williams, L.J., & 618, per Farwell, L.J.

### The King v. Sec'y of State for Home Affairs, ex parte O'Brien, [1923] 2 K.B. 361 (C.A.):

In this case the applicant, O'Brien, was said to be a ringleader of an illegal organization which had as its purpose the overthrow of the Governments in Southern and Northern Ireland and the commission of acts of violence in England. O'Brien was arrested in London and sent by the British authorities to Mountjoy Prison in Dublin in the Irish Free State where he was detained. The Irish Free State was then a selfgoverning British Dominion with its own parliament and executive. O'Brien applied to the High Court in London for a writ of habeas corpus. The writ was refused by the Divisional Court but granted by the Court of Appeal. Notwithstanding the fact that the Respondent—the Secretary of State—had lost legal control over O'Brien by handing him over to the Irish Free State Government it held that there was sufficient doubt whether the Secretary of State nonetheless retained de facto control to justify the issue of the writ so that the question of control might be definitively determined on the return. Lord Justice Atkin summarized the matter in the following passage (at 397–98):

"Having come to the definite conclusion that the order made by the Home Secretary is invalid and that the imprisonment of the applicant thereunder is unlawful, it only remains to consider whether the writ should go to the Home Secretary. I think that the question is whether there is evidence that the Home Secretary has the custody or control of the applicant. Actual physical custody is obviously not essential. 'Custody' or 'control' are the phrases used passim in the opinions of the Lords in *Barnardo* v. *Ford* [[1892] A.C. 326)], and in my opinion are a correct measure of liability to the writ. \* \* \*. In testing the validity of the order [of detention] the question is as to the legal right to control; in testing the liability of the respondent to the writ the question is as to de facto con-

trol. In all cases of alleged unjustifiable detention such as arise on applications for the writ of habeas corpus the custody or control is ex hypothesi unlawful; the question is whether it exists in fact."<sup>21</sup>

### Ex parte Mwenya, [1960] 1 Q.B. 241 (C.A.):

This case concerned the jurisdiction of the High Court in England to issue a writ of habeas corpus to the Protectorate of Northern Rhodesia. Like Bechuanaland in Sekgome's case Northern Rhodesia was described as a "foreign country within which Her Majesty has power and jurisdiction by treaty, grant, usage, sufferance and other lawful means," and where, for the purposes of the argument, it was assumed that there was no court in Northern Rhodesia competent to give equivalent relief. The Crown submitted that the only test for the availability of the writ was one of territorial sovereignty and that that test was failed on the facts of the case. Each

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>See also [1923] 2 K.B. at 381, per Lord Justice Bankes, and at 391– 92, per Lord Justice Scrutton. Most English lawyers would agree that that these three Lord Justices constituted the most powerful English Court of Appeal of the first half of the 20th Century. Another case to which reference should be made is *In re Ning Yi-Ching*, 56 T.L.R. 3 (K.B. 1939), which has been cited as support for a proposition that the writ does not run to foreigners in foreign territory. We do not, however, believe that it was correctly decided or that it can stand with the Appellate decisions we refer to. The judge, Mr. Justice Cassels, purported to follow the judgment of Lord Justice Kennedy in *Sekgome*. He overlooked, however, both the fact that Lord Justice Kennedy was in the minority and the fact that Lord Justice Kennedy himself considered the nationality of the detained person to be irrelevant to the jurisdiction to issue the writ. Furthermore under the treaties governing the concession in which the detained persons were held the British Authorities had no jurisdiction over non-nationals, and there was in any event another local court before which the detention could be challenged. Finally in Ex parte Mwenya, Lord Evershed, M.R., and Lord Justice Sellers held that Mr. Justice Cassels's approach was wrong.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> See [1960] 1 Q.B. at 265, quoting affidavit.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>See judgment page, *id.* at 290.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>See argument of Counsel for the Secretary of State, *id.* at 285.

member of the English Court of Appeal rejected this argument and concluded that the writ of habeas corpus could issue to any place under the "subjection" of the Crown and emphasised the necessity of considering the actual nature of the Crown's control over the territory in question, and so over the detention under challenge. The following were the key passages in the judgments:

"As a matter of history and logic, the availability of the 'most efficient protection ever invented for the liberty of the subject' should not depend upon a mere label or on matters of convenience. \* \* \* [¶] [T]he jurisdiction ought not to be limited to territories, outside England, which are strictly labelled 'colonies or foreign dominions' but will extend to territories which, having regard to the extent of the dominion in fact exercised, can be said to be 'under the subjection of the Crown' and in which the issue of a writ will be regarded (in Lord Mansfield's words) as 'proper and efficient." *Id.* at 303, per Lord Evershed, M.R.<sup>25</sup>

"The writ is concerned with personal freedom and the emphasis in principle, it would seem, is not on where the wrongful detention is occurring but, assuming the court is satisfied that the detention is without justification whether it can, having regard to the proper interests, rights and powers of those governing the place of detention, make an order which can be enforced and so release an applicant who has asked for justice before it. \* \* \* [¶] The judges in the earliest cases had not in mind the issue which arises here, but I think it would be difficult to read into any of them \* \* \* a refutation of the powers of the English Court to issue the writ to safeguard a subject's freedom in a territory over which this country had wide powers of jurisdiction and control, wide enough to en-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>See also Lord Evershed, M.R., *id.* at 297, and Lord Justice Romer, *id.* at 305.

force as a matter of ordinary administration any order the court might make." *Id.* at 309, per Lord Justice Sellers.

## Regina (Bancoult) v. Sec'y of State for Foreign and Commonwealth Affairs, [2001] Q.B. 1067 (Q.B.D. Admin. Ct.):

This case was concerned with the availability of another prerogative writ<sup>26</sup> to a territory under the Crown's "subjection." The Crown submitted that the territory although a colony, enjoyed a separate and distinct sovereignty<sup>27</sup> and that as a result the writ of the High Court in London could not run there. Lord Justice Laws and Mr. Justice Gibbs rejected this argument. Referring to the writ of habeas corpus and to *Ex parte Mwenya*, Lord Justice Laws said:

"[I]t is plain that the court in *Ex p Mwenya* \* \* \* saw nothing in any earlier jurisprudence \* \* \* to inhibit them from concluding that the writ of habeas corpus might in a proper case issue beyond the seas, 'to any place under the subjection of the Crown.' Indeed the weight of authority pointed firmly towards just such a conclusion."<sup>28</sup>

# The Queen (on the application of Abbasi) v. Sec'y of State for Foreign and Commonwealth Affairs, [2002] EWCA Civ. 1598, [2002] All E.R. (D.) 70 (Nov.):

This case was brought in the English courts on behalf of a British national captured by United States forces in Afghanistan and held at Guantanamo Bay since January 2002. He sought an order to compel the United Kingdom Secretaries of State to make representations on his behalf to the United States Government. His claim was founded on the contention that his "fundamental human right" not to be arbitrarily de-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup>The writ of certiorari to quash an ordinance passed by the Commissioner exercising powers over a British Indian Ocean Territory.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>See *id.* at 1072 & 1086  $\P$  21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>See *id*. at 1091 ¶ 26.

tained had been infringed because he had been denied access to a court, the United States District Court for the District of Columbia having dismissed habeas corpus applications by other British subjects held at Guantanamo Bay for want of jurisdiction—*Rasul* v. *Bush*, 215 F. Supp. 2d 55 (D.D.C. 2002). His submission was that in these circumstances the Secretaries of State owed him a duty under English law to take steps to redress the position.

The English Court of Appeal, presided over by the Master of the Rolls, held that the denial of access to a court in Abbasi's case was in conflict with the fundamental principles of English law and of public international law. The Court stated its belief that United States law recognized the same principles. The Court emphasised (paragraph 65) that Abbasi's detention as an alleged "enemy combatant" might prove to be justified, and that the United Kingdom also had legislation to deal with suspected international terrorists.<sup>29</sup> Nonetheless the Court said:

"66. What appears to us to be objectionable is that Mr Abbasi should be subject to indefinite detention in territory over which the United States has exclusive control with no opportunity to challenge the legitimacy of his detention before any court or tribunal. It is important to record that the position may change when the appellate courts in the United States consider the matter. The question for us is what attitude should the courts in England take pending review by the appellate courts in the United States, to a detention of a British Citizen the legality of which rests (so the decisions of the United States Courts so far suggest) solely on the dictate of the United States Government, and, unlike that of United States' citizens,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>We understand that the Petitioners deny that they are or have been enemy combatants or members of any terrorist group and that no evidence to the contrary has been disclosed by the United States Government in respect of any of them. Pet. in No. 03-334 at 3; Pet. in No. 03-343 at 2–3.

is said to be immune from review in any court or independent forum."

In the result the Court of Appeal held that it could not compel the Secretaries of State to intervene by diplomatic or any other means. The judgment is, however, further clear and weighty authority for the propositions that neither the nationality of the detained person nor the absence of sovereignty over the place of detention would preclude an English court from entertaining a habeas corpus application, provided that the authority in actual control of the detained person was subject to the court's jurisdiction. We refer the Court to the whole of the judgment, but for convenience set out some further passages of importance:

- "59. The United Kingdom and the United States share a great legal tradition, founded in the English common law. One of the cornerstones of that tradition is the ancient writ of habeas corpus \* \* \*. The court's jurisdiction was recognised from early times as extending to any part of the Crown's dominions \* \* \*.
- "60. The underlying principle, fundamental in English law, is that every imprisonment is prima facie unlawful \*\*\*. This principle applies to every person, British citizen or not, who finds himself within the jurisdiction of the court \*\*\*."
- "63. The recognition of this basic protection in both English and American law long pre-dates the adoption of the same principle as a fundamental part of international human rights law. \* \* \*
- "64. For these reasons we do not find it possible to approach this claim for judicial review other than on the basis that, in apparent contravention of fundamental principles recognised by both jurisdictions and by international law, Mr Abbasi is at present arbitrarily detained in a 'legal black-hole'."

In conclusion (at ¶ 107.iii) the Master of the Rolls said:

"The position of detainees at Guantanamo Bay is to be considered further by the appellate courts in the United States. It may be that the anxiety we have expressed will be drawn to their attention. We wish to make it clear that we are only expressing an anxiety that we believe was felt by the Court in *Rasul*. As is clear from our judgment, we believe that the United States courts have the same respect for human rights as our own."

#### **CONCLUSION**

If it were the United Kingdom, and not the United States of America, which controlled the Guantanamo Bay Naval Base and the detained persons held there, then the writ of habeas corpus would be available before the English Courts regardless of the nationality of the detained persons. We are, furthermore, unaware of any authority indicating that the position would be any different in any other Commonwealth State.

### Respectfully submitted,

SIR SYDNEY KENTRIDGE, Q.C.	STEPHEN J. POLLAK*
Brick Court Chambers	JOHN TOWNSEND RICH
7-8 Essex Street	SHEA & GARDNER
London WC2R 3LD	1800 Massachusetts Ave., N.W.
44 207 379 3550	Washington, D.C. 20036
	(202) 828-2000

COLIN NICHOLLS, Q.C.

3 Raymond Buildings
London WC1R 5BH
London WC2R 3AL
44 207 400 6400

TIMOTHY OTTY, BARRISTER
20 Essex Street
London WC2R 3AL
44 207 842 1200

Attorneys for the Commonwealth Lawyers Association

October 3, 2003 \*Counsel of Record